S 2 3 2 3 2 2

S _____

SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB **9** 2016

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

SAMUEL HECKART,

individually and on behalf of a Class of those similarly situated,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

A-1 SELF STORAGE, INC., et al

Defendants and Respondents,

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE CASE NO. D066831

PETITION FOR REVIEW

FINKELSTEIN & KRINSK
Jeffery R. Krinsk, Esq. (CBN # 109234)
William R. Restis, Esq. (CBN #246823)
David J. Harris, Esq. (CBN # 286204)
Trenton R. Kashima, Esq. (CBN # 219405)
550 W. C Street, Suite 1760
San Diego, California 92101
Tel. (619) 238-1333; Fax. (619) 238-5425

I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. If a self-storage facility's form storage rental agreements satisfy the elements of "insurance" under California Insurance Code ("Code") § 22 and satisfy all other elements of "insurance" under Code § 1758.75, are those storage rental agreements regulated "insurance" under the Code? (Yes)
- 2. Is "principal object" a necessary element of every "insurance" contract under the California Insurance Code? (No)
- 3. Is an informal Department of Insurance ("DOI") staff decision regarding alleged "insurance" entitled to judicial deference where there is no evidence that the DOI saw the contracts in question? (No)

II. INTRODUCTION

This case implicates the fundamental roles of California's legislative, executive and judicial branches of government. A long-established, judicially created test for identifying "insurance" in this State has come into direct conflict with more recently enacted provisions of the California Insurance Code ("Code"). The Courts of Appeal now disagree about when and how the judicial test should be applied. Two Courts of Appeal have gotten it right, but the Court of Appeal in this case got it very wrong. The published Opinion below ignores numerous, controlling statutory commands and also defers to an *ad hoc* Department of Insurance ("DOI") opinion letter that contradicts the Code's unambiguous text. This Court must intervene to restore harmony across the Courts of Appeal, the DOI and the California Legislature.

This case also implicates the integrity of consumer transactions occurring daily throughout California. Defendants here are a regional insurance company and owners of self-storage facilities providing storage units for personal property. For nearly a decade, the storage facilities have intentionally fleeced tens of thousands of consumers by pushing overpriced, ill-funded and illegal renters' insurance contracts on every customer who walks through their doors. The storage facilities' insurance contracts are the brainchild and very penmanship of the defendant insurance company, which has made an entire line of business out of teaching non-insurance companies how to violate the Code in California: and get away with it.

While Plaintiff's case focuses on a type of renters' insurance, the Opinion below has unavoidable and disastrous consequences for many different types of everyday consumer transactions, including (but not

limited to) renting a car, buying a cell phone, and buying a house. The Opinion below establishes—for the first time ever—that practically any insurance policy can be attached to a related consumer contract, and that policy ceases to be regulated "insurance" under the Code. Stated differently, non-insurance companies can now plug insurance policies word-for-word into their business contracts, inflate the premiums, deflate the coverage, delete the disclosures, and share the profits of a new world where anyone can sell sham insurance without consequence.

This Court must grant review to unravel conflicting legal standards and stem a rising tide of consumer abuse that the Legislature has wisely and expressly outlawed.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Legal Background

The California Insurance Code is "designed to protect the insured, or the public, from the insurer." (California Physicians' Service v. Garrison (1946) 28 Cal.2d 790, 810). The Code contains many vital consumer protection provisions. For example, it requires insurance companies to have adequate reserves available to pay their policyholders. (E.g., § 690.). The Code also requires insurance companies to make meaningful disclosures in their insurance contracts and prohibits misrepresentations in connection with selling insurance. (E.g., §§ 330-361, 780-784.) The Code even establishes rules of professional conduct for insurance salespeople in

¹ All citations to § or §§ herein refer to sections of the California Insurance Code.

order "to protect the public." (E.g., § 1737.) In essence, the Code is a comprehensive statutory scheme that regulates all kinds of "insurance" businesses and contracts in California: for the benefit of the public.

But what is "insurance?" An inquiry into whether a particular contract is regulated as "insurance" begins with Code § 22. Section 22 defines "insurance" generally as "a contract whereby one undertakes to indemnify another against loss, damage, or liability arising from a contingent or unknown event." (§ 22.) This Court has long recognized that such a broad definition could be read to "engulf practically all contracts." (Transportation Guarantee Co. v. Jellins (1946) 29 Cal.2d 242, 249.) The Code, however, is not intended "to regulate all arrangements for assumption or distribution of risk." (Ibid.) It is only intended to regulate insurance contracts. To determine whether particular contracts are actually "insurance" policies subject to Code regulation, "each contract must be tested by its own terms as they are written . . . and as they are applied under the particular circumstances involved." (Id. at 248.)

For 70 years, California courts have used the "principal object test" to help shape (not supplant) this fact-dependent inquiry. (See generally id.; Garrison, 28 Cal.2d 790.) The principal object test reflects the settled proposition that not every contract containing elements of risk-shifting and risk distribution is regulated "insurance" under the Code. (Truta v. Avis Rent A Car Sys. Inc. (1987) 193 Cal.App.3d 802, 812-1.) Accordingly, even when a contract satisfies § 22's general definition of "insurance," courts inquire "whether [risk] or something else to which [risk] is related in the [contract] is [the contract's] principal object and purpose." (Jellins, supra, 29 Cal.2d at 249.)

But the Code's formulation of "insurance" is not exhausted by § 22; it identifies twenty-one specific "classes" of insurance, each with its own additional elements. (See §§ 100-124.5.) Those twenty-one classes include familiar things like life insurance, disability insurance, homeowners' insurance and car insurance. (Ibid.) The Code also defines specific types of "insurance" that are not expressly associated with any of the classes. (See, e.g., § 12880 [defining "pet insurance"]; § 1758.69 subd.(e)(1) [defining "portable electronics insurance"]; § 1758.75 [defining storage renters' insurance].) Most of the Code's specific definitions of "insurance" do not suffer from the same overbreadth that plagues § 22. In fact, the Code specifically defines certain types of "insurance" as being "incidental" (not central) to non-insurance contracts. E.g., § 1758.75 (storage renters' insurance); § 1753 (travel insurance); 1758.85 (personal effects insurance); § 1758.992 (credit insurance).) Can the principal object test render such specifically defined, "incidental" types of contracts noninsurance under the Code?

B. Defendants are allegedly distorting California "insurance" law for their own gain at the public's expense.

In 2004, the California Legislature enacted Division 1, Part 2, Chapter 5, Article 16.3 of the California Insurance Code ("Storage Insurance Act" or "Act"), §§1758.7, et seq., "in reaction to perceived abuses by the self-storage industry." (¶53.)² The Storage Insurance Act

² Citations to ¶_ or ¶¶_ refer to paragraph(s) of Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint ("FAC"), which is the operative complaint here.

prohibits storage facilities from selling storage insurance to their customers without a license from the California Department of Insurance. (§§ 1758.7 subd.(a)-(b), 1758.75 subd.(a).) In addition to licensing requirements, the Act requires storage facilities to comply with insurance-related disclosure requirements and employee training regimes, including ethics training. (§§ 1758.72, 1758.76.) The Act mandates that in selling storage insurance, a storage facility must work with a regulated insurance company that vouches for the facility's trustworthiness and competence to sell storage insurance. (§ 1758.71 subd.(a).) The Act further provides that a licensed storage facility can only sell storage insurance "on behalf of" an insurer "authorized to write those types of insurance policies" in California. (§§ 1758.7 subd.(b), 1758.75.)³

Plaintiff's Complaint alleges the following facts, which are presumed true here. (*Macias v. State of California* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 844, n.1 ["For purposes of review, the Court of Appeal . . . assumed the material facts in the complaint to be true. We shall likewise"].) Defendant Deans & Homer is an insurance company operating in California and across the western United States. (¶19.) Deans & Homer did not like the Storage Insurance Act of 2004 because it was not a profitable statute for their storage insurance business. (¶3.) So Deans & Homer decided to test the limits of California's "insurance" laws. (¶22-31.) Dean & Homer soon began pitching a new consumer "Protection Plan" to self-storage facilities throughout California. (*Ibid.*) Deans & Homer approached Defendant A-1 Storage, Inc. ("A-1") and persuaded A-1 to sell a new "Protection Plan," on

³ To "write" a policy means to act as the insurer on the policy.

A-1's own behalf to all of its storage renters in California. (*Ibid.*) Deans & Homer told A-1 that if A-1 sold storage insurance policies insured by Deans & Homer, then those policies (and A-1 itself) would be subjected to unfavorable "insurance" regulations. (*Ibid.*) However, Deans & Homer also told A-1 that if A-1 became the insurer—as well as the seller—of the same storage insurance policies, then neither A-1 nor the policies would be regulated because the policies would not be "insurance" under the Code. (*Ibid.*)

This is Deans & Homer's creative distortion of California insurance law: that when a standard storage insurance policy becomes part of a storage rental agreement, that policy ceases to be regulated "insurance" under the Code. This view was and remains wrong, but A-1 readily accepted it. Id. Consequently, for almost a decade, A-1 has been hardselling all of its storage customers a toxic "Protection Plan," as an "addendum" to A-1's storage rental agreements. (¶¶22-48.) The Protection Plan is nothing but a repackaged version of Deans & Homer's own storage insurance policies. (¶3, 25-27, 31.) If customers reject the Protection Plan, A-1 automatically enrolls them in it anyway, unless they provide A-1 with documentation of other insurance within 30 days. ¶37. The material difference between A-1's Protection Plan and Deans & Homer's storage insurance policies is that "the Protection Plan offers less coverage and costs more than Deans & Homer's Customer Storage Insurance Policy." (¶42.) Worse, A-1 does not segregate customers' monthly Protection Plan premiums and does not maintain adequate reserves to pay "Protection Plan" claims. (¶48.)

Not only did Deans & Homer draft and provide A-1 with the abusive "Protection Plan" itself, Deans & Homer gave A-1 Protection Plan claim forms (read: "storage insurance claim forms") and a series of detailed procedures for implementing the Protection Plan. (¶26-27.) Of course, Deans & Homer is no charity for storage facilities. In exchange, Deans & Homer coinsured with A-1 (not storage customers) some of the losses incurred by A-1 in paying Protection Plan claims. (¶28-30.) Under Defendants' coinsurance contract, A-1 grants Deans & Homer the continuing right to adjust and settle "Protection Plan" claims directly with A-1's customers. (¶29.) So under Defendants' insurance scheme, A-1's customers have no recovery rights against the well-capitalized insurance company, but the well-capitalized insurance company maintains substantive rights against the customers. (*Ibid.*)

In sum, Dean's & Homer:

- (1) crossed out its name from its storage insurance policies and wrote in A-1's name as the insurer; ¶31
- (2) increased the premiums and slashed the coverage provided by those policies; (¶¶40-42)
- (3) gave those insurance policies to unlicensed, unregulated A-1 to hard-sell on A-1's own behalf; (¶¶22-27) and
- (4) secured its own profits by collecting coinsurance premiums from A-1 and maintaining substantial control over customers' "Protection Plan" claims. (¶28-31.)

As a result, Plaintiff and the Class have overpaid for inferior, illegal storage insurance policies under the Act. (¶48.)

C. Procedural History

Plaintiff filed the operative Complaint on April 14, 2014 after a limited opportunity for discovery. The FAC asserts causes of action against Defendants under California's Unfair Competition Law, BUS. & PROF. CODE §§ 17200, et seq., the Consumer Legal Remedies Act, CIV. CODE §§ 1750, et seq., and claims of negligent misrepresentation and civil conspiracy. (¶63-101.) The Complaint alleges the above facts and seeks damages, restitution, and declaratory and injunctive relief based on A-1's illegal sale of storage "insurance" policies in violation of the Act. (Id. at Prayer.) Plaintiff seeks to represent a multi-year Class of A-1's customers who have been and continue to be pushed into buying A-1's "Protections Plans" on a regular basis. (¶56.)

Defendants demurred to the Complaint, arguing that Defendants' "Protection Plan" cannot be "insurance" under § 22's principal object test. At the hearing on Defendants' demurrer, the trial court grappled with the meaning of "insurance" and expressed confusion about whether the principal object test should even apply in light of the Storage Insurance Act:

THE COURT: It's a significant question. It's a big decision.

*** And what's confusing and what creates a problem is the cases that seem to have two different ways of looking at it: the [principal object test], and then the determination is it insurance [under the Code] or not, which . . . don't necessary go together.

RT at 25. Ultimately, the Superior Court applied § 22's principal object test to hold that Defendants' "Protection Plan" was not storage insurance notwithstanding the Storage Insurance Act. (*Heckart v. A-1 Self Storage*, *Inc.* (Super. Ct. San Diego County, 2014, No. 37-2013-00042315).)

Plaintiff appealed, arguing that the Protection Plan is clearly "insurance" under the Act and that the principal object test must be reconciled with the Code's specific "insurance" definitions outside § 22. Defendants urged the Court to apply the principal object test as dispositive, notwithstanding the Act.

The Court of Appeal applied Defendants' dispositive version of the principle object test and held that the Protection Plan was not storage insurance because "the principal object" of A-1's storage rental agreement and Protection Plan "addendum" was "the rental of storage space." (Opinion at 9-10.) The Court of Appeal also deferred to a conclusory DOI opinion letter ("Staff Letter") without engaging in any deference analysis. (Id. at 12-13.) The Staff Letter did not address a single aspect or provision of the 2004 Storage Insurance Act. (Ibid.) In fact, there is no evidence in the record that the DOI ever saw Defendants' "Protection Plan" or reinsurance contracts. (Id. ["Deans & Homer requested an opinion from the DOI as to whether a program structured substantially similar to the Protection Plan constituted insurance."]) The Court of Appeal relied heavily on that Staff Letter in holding that Defendants' Protection Plan is not storage insurance. Id.

VI. THERE ARE NUMEROUS GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

The grounds for review of the Court of Appeal's Opinion are numerous and of paramount importance to this State.

First, the principal object test has been a key part of defining the outer bounds of "insurance" in California for the last 70 years. (See generally Garrison, 28 Cal.2d 790; Jellins, 29 Cal.2d 242.) But California courts and the DOI are now applying the principal object test in a manner

that contradicts and nullifies whole sections of the Code it purports to interpret. The Code says one thing, and the principal object test as interpreted by the Opinion below, now says the opposite. There is no reconciling the two.

Second, the Courts of Appeal now disagree about whether the principal object test applies at all to the Code's specifically defined classes of "insurance." (Compare Truta, supra, 193 Cal.App.3d 802 and Wayne v. Staples Inc. (2006) 135 Cal.App.4th 466, with Opinion.) Is the principal object test one of several fact-dependent tools for identifying the outer bounds of "insurance" under § 22, or is it a threshold inquiry that converts regulated types of "insurance" into non-"insurance" when appended to a non-insurance contract? The answer to this question will not only clarify California "insurance" law, but also guard the integrity of everyday economic transactions in California.

Third, courts should not defer to conclusory, *ad hoc* agency opinion letters without any deference analysis. This is particularly true where, as here, the DOI has made an *ad hoc* "insurance" determination without seeing the contracts in question. Moreover, because the applicable statute here is unambiguous and the DOI's Staff Letter contradicts the statute's plain text, deference is inappropriate. If the Opinion below is not reviewed, it encourages erroneous judicial deference across the landscape of California jurisprudence.

Fourth, while this case directly affects one type of "insurance" (storage renters' insurance) under the Code, similar statutory language is used throughout the Code to define many different types of "insurance." If the Opinion below is correct that storage insurance is not "insurance" when

offered by a storage facility, then marine insurance is not "insurance" when offered by a shipping company, apartment renters' insurance is not "insurance" when offered by landlords, and homeowners' insurance is not "insurance" when offered by homebuilders. None of these arrangements are subject to regulation under the Court of Appeal's Opinion. This means no reserves, no disclosure requirements, no ethical rules, and many other dangers. The potential for unchecked, abusive insurance schemes to be carried out against Californians is practically limitless, unless this Court grants review.

A. THE PRINCIPAL OBJECT TEST NOW CONFLICTS WITH THE CODE ITSELF

In 2004, the California Legislature enacted the Storage Insurance Act. §§ 1758.7, et seq. Article 16.3 of the Act governs the circumstances under which storage facilities can sell storage renters' insurance to its customers. (*Ibid.*) The Act first provides:

No self-service storage facility . . . shall offer or sell insurance unless it has complied with the requirements of this article and has been issued a license . . . to offer or sell the types of insurance specified in Section 1758.75 in connection with and incidental to [storage] rental agreements"

(§§ 1758.7 (a)-(b) [emphasis added].) Section 1758.75 then specifies the "types of insurance" that a licensed storage facility may sell:

A self-storage facility . . . licensed under this article may [sell storage insurance] for an authorized insurer only with respect to the following types of insurance and only in connection with, and incidental to, self-storage rental agreements: ¶(a) Insurance that provides hazard insurance coverage to renters for the loss of, or damage to, tangible personal property in storage or in transit during the rental period.

(§ 1758.75 [emphasis added].) The Act further provides:

If any person sells insurance in connection with, or incidental to, self-service storage rental agreements . . . without obtaining the license required by this article, the commissioner may issue a cease and desist order

(§ 1758.74 [emphasis added].)

The elements of storage insurance under the Act are therefore: (1) "hazard insurance coverage," (2) for "renters," (3) "in connection with and incidental to" storage rental agreements; (4) "for the loss of, or damage to, tangible personal property," that is (5) "in storage or in transit," (6) "during the rental period." (See § 1758.75.) The Court of Appeal, however, did not apply a single fact about Defendants' Protection Plans to the elements of this newly defined "type of insurance" under the Code. (See generally Opinion.) If the Court of Appeal had done so, it would have found that:

- (1) The Protection Plan promises "coverage" of up to \$2,500 in cash per customer in the event of "hazards" like "fire, theft, vandalism, malicious mischief, rook lea[k], water damage, vandalism [again], or collapse of the building where the property is stored"; (§ 1758.75; Opinion at 3)
- (2) The Protection Plan is made available "to renters" of A-1's storage spaces; (ibid.)
- (3) The Protection Plan is an "incidental" addendum "connected" to all of A-1's storage rental agreements; (§ 1758.75; Opinion at 1-4)
- (4) The Protection Plan's \$2,500 in "coverage" promises to pay "renters" for the "loss of, or damage to, tangible personal property" resulting from the above "hazards," among others; (§ 1758.75; Opinion at 3)

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