No. S232322

FEB **2 9** 2016

SAN THE STATE OF THE PROPERTY OF THE PROPERTY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA	Frank A. McGuire Clerk
•	Deputy

SAMUEL HECKART, individually and on behalf of a Class of those similarly situated,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

A-1 SELF STORAGE INC., et al.

Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE CASE NO. D066831

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

John T. Brooks, Cal. St. Bar No. 167793 SHEPPARD MULLIN RICHTER & HAMPTON LLP 501 West Broadway, 19th Floor San Diego, California 92101 619.338.6500

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

Specifically, when personal property in self-storage is damaged, the self-storage tenant may blame the landlord. The tenant may, for example, contend that (i) a leaky roof caused water damage, (ii) inadequate security led to theft, or (iii) inoperative fire sprinklers permitted a fire loss. Published cases involving such claims by tenants against landlords demonstrate that the threat of such disputes is real. (See, e.g. Cregg v. Ministor Ventures (1983) 148 Cal. App. 3d 1107, 1110 [theft; landlord failed to provide adequate security]; *Pelletier v. Alameda* Yacht Harbor (1986) 188 Cal. App. 3d 1551, 1554 [vandalism; landlord failed to provide adequate security]; George v. Bekins Van & Storage Co. (1949) 33 Cal. 2d 834 [fire; landlord negligently allowed smoking]; Evans v. Thomason (1977) 72 Cal. App. 3d 978 [fire; landlord failed to repair defective electric outlet]; Ewing v. Balan (1959) 168 Cal. App. 2d 619 [fire; landlord supplied defective water heater]; Stoiber v. Honeychuck (1980) 101 Cal. App. 3d 903 [water damage; landlord failed to maintain roof]; Poulsen v. Charlton (1964) 224 Cal. App. 2d 262 [same].)

Such disputes are costly and time-consuming, even if the tenant's attempt to blame the landlord (or the landlord's attempt to escape blame) is meritless. Both landlord and tenant accordingly have an interest in structuring their contract to avoid the expense and uncertainty of disputes over responsibility for damage to stored property. The A-1 Self Storage lease allows the parties to avoid potential liability disputes – in advance, smoothly, and without litigation – in one of two ways. Either:

- (i) the tenant agrees, via an exculpatory clause, to forego any argument that A-1 Self Storage is legally responsible for damage to stored property, or
- (ii) for \$10 more per month, A-1 Self Storage agrees to forego any argument that it is not legally responsible up to \$2,500 if tenant property is damaged while stored in an A-1 Self Storage facility.

(Slip Op., pp. 2-4; CT 200 [¶ 4], 207 [¶ 33], 229-30.) Through one option or the other – the choice belongs to the tenant – the parties resolve in advance a serious potential dispute inherent in their landlord-tenant relationship.

Petitioner Samuel Heckart contended below that a tenant's choice of the latter option transforms what would otherwise just be a lease into a contract of insurance – thus rendering the lease subject to prior approval by the Department of Insurance as to form and price, and subjecting A-1 Self Storage itself to all the many other requirements imposed on insurers. That simply is not the law. Under the principal object test, the lease remains a lease and does not become subject to regulation by the

Department of Insurance, regardless of which risk allocation option the tenant chooses.

Because the risk allocation options in the parties' contract support a non-insurance principal object, they are fundamentally different from the indemnity obligations taken on by insurers. Unlike insurers – whose sole relationship with their customers is one of financial guaranty – A-1 Self Storage and its customers have a landlord-tenant relationship. Unlike insurers – who cannot possibly be blamed when a risk they insure comes to pass – landlords can be blamed (meritoriously or otherwise) if tenant property is stolen or damaged. Landlords and tenants, as well as parties to contracts more generally, have a legitimate need to anticipate and address such potential liability disputes incidental to their business relationship.

Agreeing to allocate those risks in advance and without litigation is both prudent business and good public policy. For 70 years, the principal object test has promoted this sound public policy by permitting parties in non-insurance transactions to make these prudent agreements without thereby subjecting themselves to the extensive regulation imposed upon insurers.

B. There is No Unsettled Question of Law

1. The Rule of Decision – the "Principal Object" Test – Is Settled Law

The principal object test, which the Court of Appeal applied to decide that the parties' storage lease agreement is not subject to regulation as insurance (Slip Op., pp. 9-10), was adopted by this Court in 1946 and has been consistently applied since then. This case therefore raises no unsettled question of law.

In Transportation Guar. Co. v. Jellins (1946) 29 Cal. 2d 242, 249 ("Jellins"), this Court recognized that "it was not the purpose of the insurance statutes to regulate all arrangements for assumption or distribution of risk. That view would cause them to engulf practically all contracts." (Id. at p. 249.) Jellins accordingly articulated the principal object test to distinguish contracts subject to regulation as insurance from contracts which, despite involving some assumption or distribution of risk, are not subject to regulation as insurance:

The question turns, not on whether risk is involved or assumed, but on whether that or something else to which it is related in the particular plan is its principal object and purpose.

(Id.)

The principal object test remains well-established law. Since *Jellins*, this Court and the Court of Appeal have reaffirmed the principal object test and applied it to different fact patterns many times.

In California Physicians' Service v. Garrison (1946) 28 Cal. 2d 790, 809, for example, this Court held that "[a]bsence or presence of assumption of risk or peril is not the sole test to be applied in determining [whether a health care arrangement was subject to regulation as insurance]. The question, more broadly, is whether, looking at the plan of operation as a whole, 'service' rather than 'indemnity' is its principal object and purpose."

This Court applied the same test in *Title Ins. Co. v. State* Bd. of Equalization (1992) 4 Cal. 4th 715, 726, holding that underwriting agreements were not illegal contracts of insurance because "[t]he indemnification provisions are secondary to the main object and purpose of the underwriting agreements."

The Court of Appeal likewise has consistently applied the principal object test to decide whether a contract is subject to regulation as insurance. In *Truta v. Avis Rent A Car System*, *Inc.* (1987) 193 Cal. App. 3d 802, 812, for example, the Court of Appeal held that a collision damage waiver offered by car rental company was not insurance because "[t]he principal object and purpose of the transaction before us, the element which gives the transaction its distinctive character, is the rental of an automobile."

Similarly, in Automotive Funding Group, Inc. v. Garamendi (2003) 114 Cal. App. 4th 846, 855, the Court of Appeal held that a debt cancellation program offered by car finance lender – under which lender waived debt in the event of certain damage to the

car – was not insurance because "the primary objective of [the defendant's] transactions is to finance a used car purchase."

Because the principal object test is both well-established and has proven effective in addressing many diverse fact patterns, the petition does not raise any important unsettled issue of law.

2. There is No Conflict Between the Principal Object Test and the Insurance Code

Petitioner's contention that the principal object test has been superseded by and "now conflicts with" Insurance Code section 1758.7 et seq. is incorrect. (Petition, pp. 12-17.) The Court of Appeal correctly found that petitioner's argument "fails because it puts the cart before the horse." (Slip Op., p. 11.)

In support of his misplaced argument, petitioner purports to give section 1758.7 et seq. a name – the "Storage Insurance Act" – that exists nowhere in the Insurance Code. (Petition, p. 12.) This misnomer appears designed to support the argument that section 1758.7 et seq. was enacted to create a new class of insurance contract – "storage insurance" – and to subject such contracts to regulation as insurance. (Id. at p. 13.) But in fact, section 1757.8 et seq. is not entitled the "Storage Insurance Act." Rather, it is codified as Article 16.3 of the Insurance Code, which is entitled "Self-Service Storage Agents" (italics supplied).

As the correct title of Article 16.3 suggests, the purpose of section 1758.7 *et seq.* was to create a new a limited class of

insurance agents, not to create or define a new class of insurance. Indeed, the type of insurance to which section 1757.8 et seq. applies had been offered in the market for at least 20 years before the statute was enacted. (CT 264 [judicially-noticed legislative history reciting that "[s]elf-storage facilities have been offering optional personal property insurance coverage to their tenants for more than 20 years"]; CT 475 [grant of judicial notice].)

More specifically, Article 16.3 established a category of insurance agents with limited rights – called "self-service storage" agents" - who are licensed only to sell (i) hazard insurance covering property in storage, (ii) issued by an authorized insurer. and (iii) sold "in connection with, and incidental to" a self-service storage lease. (Ins. Code, § 1758.7, subd. (b) and § 1758.75.) The requirements imposed on self-storage operators that obtain such a limited license are modest and are contained completely in a single article (Article 16.3) comprising only twelve sections. (Ins. Code, §§ 1758.7-1758.792.) In contrast, the requirements imposed on persons who obtain a broad license to sell all classes of property insurance (i) span fourteen articles of the Insurance Code comprising 153 sections, and (ii) include detailed licensing and bonding obligations, educational requirements, and disciplinary provisions, all of which do not apply to self-service storage agents licensed under Article 16.3. (Ins. Code, §§ 1621-1751.7.) By creating a class of agents with limited rights and correspondingly limited regulatory burdens, the Legislature made it easier for self-storage operators to help tenants who want to insure their stored property to find and purchase an suitable insurance policy.

But nothing in section 1758.7 et seq. purports to define what contracts qualify as insurance requiring a license to sell. Nothing in those sections suggests a rejection of the principal object test. Nothing in those sections even mentions private risk allocation provisions in self-storage leases, much less evinces a legislative intent to subject leases with provisions like those at issue in this case to regulation as insurance.

Accordingly, there is no conflict between the longstanding principal object test and section 1758.7 et seq. The former governs whether a contract is or is not subject to regulation as insurance. The latter imposes certain obligations if, and only if, a self-storage operator acts as an agent to offer a contract that is subject to regulation as insurance. As the Court of Appeal correctly found, Petitioner's argument to the contrary puts the cart before the horse.

C. There is No Disuniformity of Decision

The Court of Appeal's opinion also creates no disuniformity of decision. It applies the same rule of decision – namely, the principal object test – that other courts have applied for 70 years:

The Protection Plan in this case was an addendum to and dependent on the Rental Agreement. Without the Rental Agreement, the Protection Plan would not exist and would have no purpose. Thus, we must look at the Rental Agreement and Protection Plan as a whole. Looking at the entire transaction between the parties, the principal object or "distinctive character" was the rental of storage space.

(Slip Op., p. 10.) Nor does the opinion create any conflict with respect to application of that rule of decision to a particular fact pattern. Indeed, such a conflict is not possible because no other California appellate decision has applied the principal object test in the context of agreements between a landlord and tenant to allocate the risk of loss to a tenant's stored property.

In particular, there is no conflict with *Truta v. Avis Rent A Car System, Inc.*, supra, 193 Cal.App.3d 802. In *Truta*, the Court of Appeal applied the principal object test to hold that risk allocation provisions in a car rental contract did not subject the lessor to regulation as an insurer:

The principal object and purpose of the transaction before us, the element which gives the transaction its distinctive character, is the rental of an automobile. . . . [The] tangential risk allocation provision should not have the effect of converting the defendants as contracting lessors into insurers subject to statutory regulation.

(Id., p. 812.) The same is true here. The principal object of the transaction between petitioner and A-1 Self Storage – the element which gives the transaction its "distinctive character" – was leasing the storage unit. But for their relationship as landlord and tenant, there would be no reason for A-1 Self Storage to offer to Heckart (and no reason for Heckart to seek from A-1 Self Storage) any sort of agreement allocating financial

responsibility in the event of damage to stored property. Thus, there is no disuniformity because *Truta* and this case apply the same fundamental rule to the particular facts presented.

Further, petitioner mischaracterizes Truta in part. Truta did not, as petitioner claims, hold that the result there would be different if the car lessor had agreed "to pay money to third parties." (Petition, p. 20.) The quoted language was in fact contained in an analysis by the Department of Insurance and is not part of Truta's holding. (Truta v. Avis Rent A Car System, Inc.,, supra, 193 Cal. App. 3d at p. 815.) In any event, nothing in the parties' lease agreement here requires payment to any third party. Rather, the parties agreed only to resolve in advance the liability disputes that might arise among themselves as a direct consequence of their landlord-tenant relationship. For the reasons in Part A, ante, that is fundamentally different from an insurer who has no other relationship with its policyholder agreeing to discharge liabilities that the policyholder might owe to third parties.

The Court of Appeal's opinion also does not conflict with Wayne v. Staples, Inc. (2006) 135 Cal. App. 4th 466. Wayne did not reject the principal object test. To the contrary, it reaffirmed it:

The test in *Truta*, *supra*, 193 Cal.App.3d 802, 238 Cal.Rptr. 806, and *AFG*, *supra*, 114 Cal.App.4th 846, 7 Cal.Rptr.3d 912, is whether the principal purpose of the transaction is risk allocation and indemnification or something else. An incidental contract provision that, for a fee, shifts risk of loss from the consumer to

the provider of the goods or services does not make the agreement an insurance contract subject to regulation under the Insurance Code.

(Id. at p. 551.) Rather, Wayne simply found there was no need to apply the principal object test because there was no question that what the defendant retailer was selling – a insurance policy issued by National Union Fire Insurance company, under which National Union agreed to pay for damage that could not possibly be attributed to its negligence – was insurance. (Id., pp. 471-72, 476-77.) Wayne was not called upon to determine when or whether risk allocation provisions like those here – in which to parties agree to allocate risks inherent in their non-insurance relationship – should be subject to regulation as insurance. Thus, there is no conflict between the Court of Appeal's opinion and Wayne.

Finally, petitioner's "parade of horribles" argument – that the Court of Appeal's opinion will invite evasion of the insurance regulatory statutes – is also misplaced. (Petition, pp. 28-31.) The principal object test inherently prevents such evasion by distinguishing between agreements that have indemnity as their principal object and those in which indemnity arrangements support a non-insurance principal object. Only agreements in which the parties' risk allocation agreements legitimately serve a primary, non-insurance object will not be subject to regulation as insurance.

CONCLUSION

Permitting agreements like the one here — without burdening landlords with regulation as insurers, or burdening the Department of Insurance with the obligation to police landlords — is both socially valuable and administratively prudent. There is no unsettled issue of law because the rule of decision (the principal object test) has been California law for 70 years. There is no conflict among cases because no court applying that rule of decision has reached a contrary result on similar facts. The petition for review should be denied.